

# Court of Session Act 1988

CHAPTER 36

LONDON
HER MAJESTY'S STATIONERY OFFICE





# Court of Session Act 1988

# **CHAPTER 36**

# ARRANGEMENT OF SECTIONS

#### PART I

# CONSTITUTION AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE COURT

#### Section

- 1. Number of judges of Court.
- 2. Composition of Court.
- 3. Exchequer causes.
- 4. Power of judges to act in cases relating to rates and taxes.

### PART II

#### GENERAL POWERS OF THE COURT IN RELATION TO PROCEDURE

- 5. Power to regulate procedure etc. by act of sederunt.
- 6. Allocation of business etc. by act of sederunt.
- 7. Fees on remit to accountants etc.
- 8. Rules Council.

#### PART III

# **ORDINARY ACTIONS**

#### Proof

- 9. Allowing of proof by Lord Ordinary.
- 10. Evidence on commission in Outer House.
- 11. Jury actions.

# Trial by jury

- 12. Summoning of jury.
- 13. Selection of jury.
- 14. Application for view by jury.
- 15. Illness or death of juror during trial.
- 16. Trial to proceed despite objection to opinion and direction of judge.
- 17. Return of verdict.

### Judgment

18. Lord Ordinary's judgment final in Outer House.

# PART IV

#### OTHER CAUSES

#### Consistorial causes

#### Section

c. 36

- 19. Lord Advocate as party to action for nullity of marriage or divorce.
- 20. Orders with respect to children.

# Exchequer causes

- 21. Exchequer causes to have precedence.
- 22. Lord Advocate to sue and be sued on behalf of the Crown.
- 23. Lord Advocate may be heard last.
- 24. Appeal to House of Lords.

#### **Petitions**

25. Disposal of petitions initiated in Outer House.

## Summary trials

26. Summary trials.

## Special cases

27. Special cases.

### PART V

#### APPEAL AND REVIEW

# Reclaiming

28. Reclaiming.

### Review in jury actions

- 29. Application for new trial.
- 30. Restrictions on granting of application for new trial.
- 31. Verdict may be returned subject to opinion of Inner House on point reserved.

#### Appeals and transmissions from sheriff

- 32. Appeals.
- 33. Transmissions from sheriff to Court on ground of contingency.

# Review by suspension

- 34. Suspension of decrees of Court granted in absence.
- 35. Suspension of sheriff court decree.

#### Rehearing and additional proof in Inner House

- 36. Rehearing by larger court of causes pending in Inner House.
- 37. Additional proof ordered by Inner House.
- 38. Evidence on commission in Inner House.

#### Judgment in Inner House

#### Section

39. Inner House judgment final in Court of Session.

# Appeals to House of Lords

- 40. Appealable interlocutors.
- 41. Interim possession, execution and expenses.
- 42. House of Lords may make order on payment of interest.
- 43. Interest and expenses where appeal dismissed for want of prosecution.

#### PART VI

#### MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 44. Selection of judges for trial of election petitions.
- 45. Restoration of possession and specific performance.
- 46. Specific relief may be granted in interdict proceedings.
- 47. Interim interdict and other interim orders.
- 48. Limited right of audience of solicitor before the Court.
- 49. Subscription of bill for letters of inhibition.
- 50. Copy of interlocutor granting commission and diligence to be equivalent to formal extract.

#### PART VII

#### SUPPLEMENTARY

- 51. Interpretation
- 52. Consequential amendments, repeals and savings.
- 53. Short title, commencement and extent.

#### SCHEDULES:

Schedule 1—Minor Amendments

Schedule 2—Repeals



# Court of Session Act 1988

## **1988 CHAPTER 36**

An Act to consolidate, with amendments to give effect to recommendations of the Scottish Law Commission, certain enactments relating to the constitution, administration and procedure of the Court of Session and procedure on appeal therefrom to the House of Lords; and to repeal, in accordance with recommendations of the Scottish Law Commission, certain enactments relating to the aforesaid matters which are no longer of practical utility. [29th July 1988]

E IT ENACTED by the Queen's most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and consent of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, and Commons, in this present Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows:-

#### PART I

## CONSTITUTION AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE COURT

1.—(1) Subject to subsections (2), (3) and (4) below, the maximum Number of judges number of judges of the Court of Session (hereinafter in this Act referred of Court. to as "the Court") shall be 24.

- (2) Her Majesty may by Order in Council from time to time amend subsection (1) above so as to increase or further increase the maximum number of persons who may be appointed as judges of the Court.
- (3) No recommendation shall be made to Her Majesty in Council to make an Order under this section unless a draft of the Order has been laid before Parliament and approved by resolution of each House of Parliament.
- (4) No vacancy arising among the judges of the Court shall be filled unless the Secretary of State, with the concurrence of the Treasury, is satisfied that the state of business in the Court requires that the vacancy should be filled.

PART I

c. **36** 

(5) There shall be paid out of the Consolidated Fund any increase attributable to the provisions of this section in the sums which, under any other enactment, are payable out of that Fund.

Composition of Court.

- 2. The Court shall be composed of an Inner House and an Outer House constituted in accordance with the following provisions of this section.
- (2) Subject to subsection (3) below, the Inner House shall be composed of two Divisions, namely, the First Division comprising the Lord President and three senior judges of the Court, and the Second Division comprising the Lord Justice Clerk and three other senior judges of the Court.
- (3) The Lord President may from time to time direct any three judges of the Court to sit as an extra Division of the Inner House for the purpose of hearing and disposing of causes pending before the Inner House, and the senior judge present shall preside and shall sign any judgment or interlocutor pronounced by the extra Division; and any reference in this Act or in any other enactment to a Division of the Inner House shall be construed as including a reference to such an extra Division.
  - (4) The quorum for a Division of the Inner House shall be three judges.
- (5) The Outer House shall be composed of the judges of the Court (other than the judges of the Inner House while they are sitting in the Inner House) sitting singly, and any reference in this Act or in any other enactment to a Lord Ordinary shall be construed as a reference to a judge sitting singly in the Outer House.
- (6) Subject to subsection (7) below, a vacancy arising in a Division of the Inner House shall be filled by the appointment of the senior Lord Ordinary.
- (7) Subsection (6) above shall not apply in the case of such a vacancy arising by reason of the death or resignation of the Lord President or the Lord Justice Clerk.

Exchequer causes.

3. One of the judges of the Court who usually sits as a Lord Ordinary shall be appointed by the Court by act of sederunt to act as Lord Ordinary in exchequer causes, and no other judge shall so act unless and until such judge is appointed in his place:

Provided that, in the event of the absence or inability of the Lord Ordinary in exchequer causes for whatever reason, any of his duties may be performed by any other Lord Ordinary acting in his place.

Power of judges to act in cases relating to rates and taxes.

- **4.**—(1) A judge of the Court shall not be incapable of acting as such in any proceedings by reason of being, as one of a class of ratepayers, taxpayers or persons of any other description, liable in common with others to pay, or contribute to, or benefit from, any rate or tax which may be increased, reduced or in any way affected by those proceedings.
- (2) In this section "rate or tax" means any rate, tax, duty or assessment, whether public, general or local, and includes—
  - (a) any fund formed from the proceeds of any such rate, tax, duty or assessment; and
  - (b) any fund applicable for purposes the same as, or similar to, those for which the proceeds of any such rate, tax, duty or assessment are or might be applied.

#### PART II

#### GENERAL POWERS OF THE COURT IN RELATION TO PROCEDURE

- 5. The Court shall have power by act of sederunt—
  - (a) to regulate and prescribe the procedure and practice to be followed in various categories of causes in the Court or in execution or diligence following on such causes, whether originating in the said Court or brought there by way of appeal, removal, remit, stated case, or other like process, and any matters incidental or relating to any such procedure or practice including (but without prejudice to the foregoing generality) the manner in which, the time within which, and the conditions on which any interlocutor of a Lord Ordinary may be submitted to the review of the Inner House, or any application to the Court, or any thing required or authorised to be done in relation to any such causes as aforesaid shall or may be made or done;
  - (b) to prescribe the form of any summons, defence, petition, answer, writ, pleading, extract of a decree or other document whatsoever to be used in, or for the purposes of, any such causes as aforesaid, or in, or for the purposes of, execution or diligence following on such causes and the manner in which, and the person by whom, any such summons, petition, writ, pleading, extract of a decree or document shall be signed or authenticated;
  - (c) to prescribe the manner in which, the time within which, and the conditions on which any verdict of a jury may be submitted to the review of the Inner House on any ground set out in section 29 of this Act;
  - (d) to regulate the production and recovery of documents;
  - (e) to provide in any category of causes before the Court, for the admission in lieu of parole evidence of written statements (including affidavits) and reports, on such conditions as may be prescribed;
  - (f) to provide for the payment into Court and the investment or application of sums of money awarded in any action of damages in the Court to a pupil or a minor;
  - (g) to regulate the fees of solicitors practising before the Court (other than such fees as the Secretary of State may regulate under or by virtue of section 33 of the Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1986 c. 47. 1986);

- (h) to regulate the expenses which may be awarded to parties in causes before the Court;
- (i) to regulate the summoning, remuneration, and duties of assessors;
- (i) to fix the ordinary sessions of the Court and to regulate the days on which and times at which the Court shall sit;
- (k) to prescribe the matters with which the vacation judge may deal;
- (1) to make such regulations as may be necessary to carry out the provisions of this Act or of any Act conferring powers or imposing duties on the Court or relating to proceedings therein; and

Power to regulate procedure etc. by act of sederunt.

PART II

c. 36

(m) to modify, amend or repeal any provision of any enactment including this Act relating to matters with respect to which an act of sederunt may be made under this Act.

Allocation of business etc. by act of sederunt.

- 6. With a view to securing that causes coming before the Court may be heard and determined with as little delay as is possible, and to the simplifying of procedure and the reduction of expense in causes before the Court, the Court shall, in the exercise of the powers conferred on it by section 5 of this Act, provide by act of sederunt—
  - (i) for the classification of the causes brought into the Court according to the manner in which they are initiated, and for the institution of (a) an Ordinary Roll; (b) an Admiralty and Commercial Roll; and (c) a Consistorial Roll; and the assignment to the Consistorial Roll of all consistorial causes and to the Ordinary Roll or to the Admiralty and Commercial Roll of all other causes initiated by summons, according to the subject matter of such causes;
  - (ii) for the allocation of the causes before the Inner House among the Divisions thereof and of the causes before the Outer House among the Lords Ordinary;
  - (iii) for enabling the enforcement of a maritime lien over a ship by an action in rem directed against the ship and all persons interested therein without naming them and concluding for the sale of the ship and the application of the proceeds in extinction pro tanto of the lien, and for enabling arrestment of the ship on the dependence of such an action, and for the regulation of the procedure in any such action;
  - (iv) for enabling the inclusion, in any such action as is mentioned in paragraph (iii) above, of conclusions in personam against the registered owners of the vessel, whether their names are or are not known to the pursuer, and the granting of decree in any such action containing such conclusions against any compearing defender;
  - (v) for the inclusion in defences to any action of any counter claim arising out of the matters on which the action is based, to the effect of enabling such counter claim to be enforced without a separate action being raised;
  - (vi) for enabling trustees under any trust deed to obtain the direction of the Court on questions relating to the investment, distribution, management or administration of the trust estate, or the exercise of any power vested in, or the performance of any duty imposed on, the trustees notwithstanding that such direction may affect contingent interests in the trust estate, whether of persons in existence at, or of persons who may be born after, the date of the direction;
  - (vii) for enabling arrestment ad fundandam jurisdictionem to proceed on a warrant contained in the summons in like manner as arrestment on the dependence of the action.

Fees on remit to accountants etc.

7. The Court shall have power to regulate from time to time the fees which shall be payable to any accountant or person of skill to whom any remit is made in the course of any judicial proceedings before the Court.

8.—(1) The Rules Council established under section 18 of the Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1933 shall continue and shall consist of the Lord President ex officio, two other judges of the Court to be appointed by the Lord President, five members of the Faculty of Advocates to be appointed by the Faculty, and five solicitors, of whom not less than two shall be solicitors practising before the Court, to be appointed by the Council of the Law Society of Scotland.

PART II Rules Council. 1933 c. 41.

c. 36

- (2) The members of the Rules Council, other than the Lord President, shall, so long as they retain the respective qualifications set out in subsection (1) above, hold office for three years and be eligible for reappointment.
- (3) Any vacancy in the membership of the Rules Council occurring by death, resignation, or other cause prior to the expiry of three years from the date of appointment of the member whose office is so vacated shall be filled by the appointment by the person or body by whom that member was appointed of another person possessing the same qualification:

Provided that any person appointed in pursuance of this subsection to fill a vacancy shall remain a member of the council only until the expiry of three years from the date of the appointment of the member whose office is so vacated.

- (4) The Rules Council may from time to time frame rules regarding any of the matters relating to the Court, being matters which the court is empowered to regulate by act of sederunt, and shall submit any rules so framed to the Court, and the Court shall consider such rules and, if approved, embody them (with or without amendment) in an act of sederunt.
- (5) At any meeting of the Rules Council seven members shall form a quorum.

# PART III ORDINARY ACTIONS

#### Proof

9. The Lord Ordinary may allow a proof—

- Allowing of proof by Lord Ordinary.
- (a) in any action, other than an action enumerated in section 11 of this Act, without the consent of both parties and without reporting to and obtaining the leave of the Inner House;
- (b) in any action enumerated as aforesaid, if the parties to the action consent thereto or if special cause is shown.
- 10. The Lord Ordinary may grant commission in any action—
  - (a) to any person competent to take and report in writing the depositions of havers;
  - (b) to take and report in writing the evidence of any witness who is resident beyond the jurisdiction of the Court, or who, by reason of age, infirmity or sickness, is unable to attend the diet of proof or trial:

Provided that nothing in this section shall affect the existing practice in regard to granting commission for the examination of aged and infirm witnesses to take their evidence to lie *in retentis* before a proof or, as the case may be, trial has been allowed.

Evidence on commission in Outer House.

# PART III Jury actions.

c. 36

- 11. Subject to section 9(b) of this Act, the following actions if remitted to probation shall be tried by jury—
  - (a) an action of damages for personal injuries;
  - (b) an action for libel or defamation;
  - (c) an action founded on delinquency or quasi delinquency, where the conclusion is for damages only and expenses; and
  - (d) an action of reduction on the ground of incapacity, essential error, or force and fear;

and such an action which has been ordered by the Lord Ordinary to be tried by jury is hereafter in this Act referred to as a jury action.

# Trial by jury

# Summoning of jury.

12. The jurors for the trial of issues in a jury action shall be summoned by virtue of an authority or precept signed by a Lord Ordinary or by any clerk of court officiating either in the Outer House or Inner House, and issued to the sheriff principal.

#### Selection of jury.

- 13.—(1) The jurors for the trial of any jury action shall be 12 persons selected in open court by ballot in accordance with the following provisions of this section from the list of persons summoned to attend the Court for that purpose.
- (2) The clerk of court shall cause the name of each person so summoned to be written on a separate piece of paper, all the pieces being of the same size, and shall cause the pieces to be rolled up as nearly as may be in the same shape, and to be put into a box or glass and mixed; and the clerk shall draw out the said pieces one by one from the box or glass.
- (3) Each party to the action may challenge the selection of any juror whose name has been drawn in the ballot, and may, without assigning any reason, challenge the selection of not more than 4 jurors; and any challenges for an assigned reason may be made at any time during the selection of the jury.

# Application for view by jury.

14. Any party to a jury action may apply to a Lord Ordinary to allow the jury to view any property heritable or moveable relevant to the action; and, where the Lord Ordinary considers that it is proper and necessary for the jury to view that property, he may grant the application.

# Illness or death of juror during trial.

15. Where in the course of the trial of any jury action in the Court the presiding judge is satisfied that any member of the jury is, by reason of illness, unable to continue to serve on the jury or ought, for any other reason, to be discharged from further service on the jury, it shall be lawful for the judge to discharge such member, and in any such case or in any case where in the course of such a jury trial, a member of the jury dies, the remaining members of the jury (if they are not less than 10 in number) shall in all respects be deemed to constitute the jury for the purpose of the trial and any verdict returned by them whether unanimous or by majority shall be of the like force and effect as a unanimous verdict or a verdict by majority of the whole number of the jury.

16. Notwithstanding any objection being taken in the course of the trial in any jury action to the opinion and direction of the presiding judge, the Trial to proceed trial shall proceed and the jury shall return their verdict and assess damages where necessary.

PART III despite objection to opinion and direction of judge.

c. **36** 

- 17.—(1) At the end of his charge to the jury the presiding judge shall direct the jury to select someone to speak for them when returning their verdict.
- Return of verdict.
- (2) The jury impanelled to try any jury action may at any time return a verdict by a majority of their members, and if the jury, after they have been enclosed for 3 hours, are unable to agree upon a verdict or to return a verdict by a majority, the presiding judge may discharge the jury without their having given a verdict and, on the jury being discharged, shall order the action to be tried by another jury.
- (3) The verdict when returned shall be declared orally by the juror selected as aforesaid in open court and taken down in writing by the clerk of court before the jury is discharged.
- (4) Where the jury in an action which concludes for damages finds a verdict for the pursuer they shall also assess the amount of the damages.
- (5) Subject to Part V of this Act, the verdict of the jury shall be final so far as relating to the facts found by them.

#### Judgment

18. Every interlocutor of the Lord Ordinary shall be final in the Outer Lord Ordinary's House, subject however to the review of the Inner House in accordance judgment final in with this Act.

Outer House.

# PART IV

#### OTHER CAUSES

#### Consistorial causes

19.—(1) The Lord Advocate may enter appearance as a party in any Lord Advocate as action of declarator of nullity of marriage or for divorce, and he may lead such proof and maintain such pleas as he thinks fit, and the Court shall, whenever it considers it necessary for the proper disposal of any such action, direct that the action shall be brought to the notice of the Lord Advocate in order that he may determine whether he should enter appearance therein.

party to action for nullity of marriage or divorce.

- (2) No expenses shall be claimable by or against the Lord Advocate in any action in which he has entered appearance under this section.
- 20.—(1) In any action for divorce, judicial separation or declarator of Orders with nullity of marriage, the Court may make, with respect to any child of the respect to marriage to which the action relates, such order (including an interim order) as it thinks fit relating to parental rights, and may vary or recall such order.

children.

- (2) In this section—
  - (a) "child" and "parental rights" have the same meaning as in section 8 of the Law Reform (Parent and Child)(Scotland) Act 1986 c.9. 1986; and

PART IV

c. 36

- (b) "child of the marriage" includes any child who—
  - (i) is the child of both parties to the marriage; or
  - (ii) is the child of one party to the marriage and has been accepted as a child of the family by the other party.

#### Exchequer causes

Exchequer causes to have precedence.

21. Exchequer causes shall at all times take precedence of and have preference over all other causes in the Court.

Lord Advocate to sue and be sued on behalf of the Crown.

- 22. Except where any enactment otherwise provides, all exchequer causes brought—
  - (a) on behalf of the Crown, shall be at the instance of the Lord Advocate;
  - (b) by any person alleging any ground of action against the Crown, shall be directed against the Lord Advocate.

Lord Advocate may be heard last.

23. In all exchequer causes, the Lord Advocate shall, in pleading on behalf of the Crown, have the privilege of being heard last.

Appeal to House of Lords.

24. An appeal may be brought to the House of Lords against the judgment of the Inner House in an exchequer cause as if it were a judgment of the Inner House on the whole merits of the cause in an ordinary action.

#### **Petitions**

Disposal of petitions initiated in Outer House.

- 25.—(1) The Lord Ordinary before whom any cause initiated by a petition comes shall have power to dispose of the petition himself.
- (2) For the purpose of disposing of such a cause, the Lord Ordinary may make such investigation and require such assistance from professional persons or persons of science or of skill as he thinks fit.
- (3) On any such cause coming before him, the Lord Ordinary may grant commission to take the depositions of havers and the evidence of witnesses as provided in section 10 of this Act with respect to an action.

# Summary trials

Summary trials.

- 26.—(1) The parties to any dispute or question to which this section applies may present a petition in the Outer House setting out the dispute or question and craving that it may be decided by a particular Lord Ordinary, and any such petition shall stand referred to such Lord Ordinary for his determination of the dispute or question.
- (2) The parties to any action in dependence in the Outer House not affecting the status of any person may agree by joint minute, or in such other manner as may be prescribed, that the provisions of this section shall apply to the action, and thereafter those provisions shall apply accordingly.
- (3) Provision shall be made by act of sederunt under this Act for securing that causes under this section shall be disposed of with as little delay as possible.

c. 36

(4) This section shall apply to any dispute or question not affecting the status of any person which might competently be the subject of any cause in the Outer House, or which might competently have been the subject of any such cause but for section 7 of the Sheriff Courts (Scotland) Act 1907. PART IV

1907 c.51.

#### Special cases

27.—(1) Where any parties interested, whether personally or in some Special cases. fiduciary or official capacity, in the decision of a question of law are agreed upon the facts, and are in dispute only on the law applicable to those facts, it shall be competent for them without raising any proceeding, or at any stage of any proceeding, to present to the Inner House a case (in this section referred to as a special case) signed by their counsel setting out the facts upon which they are so agreed and the question of law arising from those facts; and the parties may ask the Court either for its opinion or for its judgment on that question of law.

- (2) The Court may, if it thinks fit, in case of difficulty or importance or of equal division, appoint a special case to be reheard by a larger court under section 36 of this Act.
- (3) The Court shall dispose of all questions of expenses arising in a special case.
- (4) Any judgment pronounced by the Court by virtue of this section shall be extractible in common form.
- (5) Any judgment pronounced by the Court by virtue of this section shall be liable to review by the House of Lords unless such review is excluded by consent of all the parties to the special case.

#### PART V

#### APPEAL AND REVIEW

## Reclaiming

28. Any party to a cause initiated in the Outer House either by a Reclaiming. summons or a petition who is dissatisfied with an interlocutor pronounced by the Lord Ordinary may, except as otherwise prescribed, reclaim against that interlocutor within such period after the interlocutor is pronounced, and in such manner, as may be prescribed.

#### Review in jury actions

29.—(1) Any party who is dissatisfied with the verdict of the jury in any Application for jury action may, subject to such conditions and in such manner as may be prescribed, apply to the Inner House for a new trial on the ground—

- (a) of misdirection by the judge;
- (b) of the undue admission or rejection of evidence;
- (c) that the verdict is contrary to the evidence;
- (d) of excess or inadequacy of damages; or
- (e) of res noviter veniens ad notitiam;

or on such other ground as is essential to the justice of the cause.

(2) The Inner House on hearing an application under this section may, subject to section 30 of this Act and any act of sederunt, grant or refuse a new trial.

PART V

c. 36

(3) If the Court, on an application for a new trial on the ground that the verdict is contrary to the evidence, after hearing parties is unanimously of the opinion that the verdict under review is contrary to the evidence, and that it has before it all the evidence that could be reasonably expected to be obtained relevant to the cause, it may set aside the verdict and, in place of granting a new trial, may enter judgment for the party unsuccessful at the trial.

Restrictions on granting of application for new trial.

- 30.—(1) Where an application for a new trial is made on the ground of the undue admission of evidence, and the Court is of the opinion that the exclusion of that evidence could not have led to a different verdict than that actually returned, it shall refuse to grant a new trial.
- (2) Where an application for a new trial is made on the ground of the undue rejection of documentary evidence, and it appears to the Court from the documents themselves that they ought not to have affected the result at which the jury by their verdict have arrived, it may refuse to grant a new trial.
- (3) Where the Court, on an application for a new trial made to it, is of opinion that the only ground for granting a new trial is either excess of damages or such inadequacy of damages as to show that a new trial is essential to the justice of the cause, it may grant a new trial restricted to the question of the amount of damages only.
- (4) No verdict of a jury shall be discharged or set aside upon an application for a new trial, unless in conformity with the opinion of a majority of the judges hearing the application, and in case of equal division judgment shall be given in conformity with the verdict.

Verdict may be returned subject to opinion of Inner House on point reserved.

- 31.—(1) Where in a jury action the presiding judge has directed the jury upon any matter of law, any party against whom the verdict is returned may apply to the Inner House to enter the verdict for him.
- (2) The Inner House may, on an application made to it by a party under subsection (1) above—
  - (a) where it is of opinion that the direction of the presiding judge was erroneous and that the party making the application was truly entitled to the verdict in whole or in part, direct the verdict to be entered for that party in whole or in part, either absolutely or on such terms as it may think fit; or
  - (b) where it is of opinion that it is necessary, set aside the verdict and order a new trial; or
  - (c) refuse the application.

#### Appeals and transmissions from sheriff

Appeals. 1907 c. 51.

- 32.—(1) Where an appeal is taken to the Court from the judgment of the sheriff principal or sheriff under section 28 of the Sheriff Courts (Scotland) Act 1907, the record may, with the leave of the Court, be amended at any time on such conditions as to the Court seem proper.
- (2) On any such appeal the Court may, if it thinks fit, remit the cause to the sheriff principal or sheriff with instructions.

(3) On any such appeal the Court may, if necessary, order proof or additional proof to be taken in accordance with section 37 of this Act and shall thereafter, or without any such order if no such proof or additional proof is necessary, give judgment on the merits of the cause.

PART V

- (4) Where such an appeal is taken to the Court from the judgment of the sheriff principal or sheriff proceeding on a proof, the Court shall in giving judgment distinctly specify in its interlocutor the several facts material to the cause which it finds to be established by the proof, and express how far its judgment proceeds on the matter of facts so found, or on matter of law, and the several points of law which it means to decide.
- (5) The judgment of the Court on any such appeal shall be appealable to the House of Lords only on matters of law.
- 33.—(1) The Court shall, on an application made to it, if it is of the opinion that there is contingency between a sheriff court cause and a cause depending before it, grant warrant to the clerk of the sheriff court cause for transmission of that cause to the Court.

Transmissions from sheriff to Court on ground of contingency.

(2) In subsection (1) above "sheriff court cause" means a cause depending before the sheriff principal or the sheriff.

#### Review by suspension

34. It shall be competent for any party to bring proceedings in manner prescribed for the suspension of any decree in absence granted in the

Suspension of decrees of Court granted in absence.

- 35.—(1) It shall be competent in any proceedings for the suspension of a decree of a sheriff for that sheriff or the Court to regulate all matters relating to interim possession.
- Suspension of sheriff court decree.
- (2) The Court may in any such proceedings remit the cause to the sheriff with instructions; but no such remit shall be made, except in the case of the suspension of a decree in absence, without hearing counsel or receiving a written answer on the part of the respondent.
- (3) The Court may in granting suspension find the petitioner entitled to his expenses both in the sheriff court and in the Court.
  - (4) In this section "sheriff" includes sheriff principal.

# Rehearing and additional proof in Inner House

- 36. Where a division of the Inner House before whom a cause is pending-
- Rehearing by larger court of causes pending in Inner House.
- (a) considers the cause to be one of difficulty or importance; or
- (b) is equally divided in opinion on the cause (whether on a question of law or fact).

it may appoint the cause to be reheard by such larger court as is necessary for the proper disposal of the cause.

37. Where proof has been ordered by the Inner House, the proof shall Additional proof be taken before any one of the judges of the Inner House to whom the Inner House may think fit to remit the case, and the ruling of that judge upon the admissibility of evidence in the course of taking the proof shall be subject to review by the Inner House in the discussion of the report of

ordered by Inner House.

Part V

c. 36

the proof; and where the Inner House alters any finding of that judge rejecting evidence, it may, if it thinks fit, remit the case to have that evidence taken.

Evidence on commission in Inner House.

38. In any cause coming before it, the Inner House may grant commission to take the depositions of havers and the evidence of witnesses as provided in section 10 of this Act with respect to an action.

# Judgment in Inner House

Inner House judgment final in Court of Session.

**39.** The judgment pronounced by the Inner House shall in all causes be final in the Court.

### Appeals to House of Lords

Appealable interlocutors.

- 40.—(1) Subject to the provisions of any other Act restricting or excluding an appeal to the House of Lords and of sections 27(5) and 32(5) of this Act, it shall be competent to appeal from the Inner House to the House of Lords—
  - (a) without the leave of the Inner House, against a judgment on the whole merits of the cause, or against an interlocutory judgment where there is a difference of opinion among the judges or where the interlocutory judgment is one sustaining a dilatory defence and dismissing the action;
  - (b) with the leave of the Inner House, against any interlocutory judgment other than one falling within paragraph (a) above.
- (2) An interlocutor of the Court granting or refusing a new trial, on an application under section 29 of this Act, shall be appealable without the leave of the Court to the House of Lords; and on such an appeal the House of Lords shall have the same powers as the Court had on the application and in particular the powers specified in sections 29(3) and 30(3) of this Act.
- (3) It shall be incompetent to appeal to the House of Lords against an interlocutor of a Lord Ordinary unless the interlocutor has been reviewed by the Inner House.
- (4) On an appeal under this section all the prior interlocutors in the cause shall be submitted to the review of the House of Lords.

Interim possession, execution and expenses.

- 41.—(1) On an appeal to the House of Lords under section 40 of this Act, a copy of the petition of appeal shall be laid by the respondent before the Inner House which may regulate all matters relating to interim possession, execution and expenses already incurred as it thinks fit, having regard to the interests of the parties to the cause as they may be affected by the upholding or reversal of the judgment against which the appeal has been taken.
- (2) It shall not be competent by appeal to the House of Lords in respect of regulations made under subsection (1) above to stop the execution of those regulations; but when the House of Lords hears the appeal under section 40 of this Act, it may make such order or give such judgment respecting any matter which has been done or taken place in pursuance or in consequence of the regulations as it thinks fit.

**42.** The House of Lords in hearing an appeal under section 40 of this Act may make such order with regard to payment of interest, simple or compound, by any of the parties, as it thinks fit.

PART V House of Lords may make order on payment of interest.

43. Where an appeal to the House of Lords under section 40 of this Act is dismissed for want of prosecution, the Inner House may, on an application made to it by any respondent in the appeal, order the appellant to pay to that respondent such interest, simple or compound, as it thinks fit, together with the expenses which have been incurred in consequence of the appeal.

Interest and expenses where appeal dismissed for want of prosecution.

#### PART VI

#### MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

44.—(1) The judges to be placed on the rota for the trial of parliamentary election petitions in Scotland under Part III of the Representation of the People Act 1983 in each year shall be selected, in such manner as the Lord President may direct, from the judges of the Court exclusive of any who are members of the House of Lords.

Selection of judges for trial of election petitions. 1983 c. 2.

- (2) Notwithstanding the expiry of the year for which a judge has been placed on the rota, he may act as if that year had not expired for the purpose of continuing to deal with, giving judgment in, or dealing with any ancillary matter relating to, any case with which he may have been concerned during that year.
- (3) Any judge placed on the rota shall be eligible to be placed on the rota again in the succeeding or any subsequent year.
  - 45. The Court may, on application by summary petition—

(a) order the restoration of possession of any real or personal property of the possession of which the petitioner may have been violently or fraudulently deprived; and

Restoration of possession and specific performance.

- (b) order the specific performance of any statutory duty, under such conditions and penalties (including fine and imprisonment, where consistent with the enactment concerned) in the event of the order not being implemented, as to the Court seem proper.
- 46. Where a respondent in any application or proceedings in the Court, whether before or after the institution of such proceedings or application, has done any act which the Court might have prohibited by interdict, the Court may ordain the respondent to perform any act which may be necessary for reinstating the petitioner in his possessory right, or for granting specific relief against the illegal act complained of.

Specific relief may be granted in interdict proceedings.

47.—(1) In any cause containing a conclusion or a crave for interdict or Interim interdict liberation, the Division of the Inner House or the Lord Ordinary (as the case may be) may, on the motion of any party to the cause, grant interim interdict or liberation; and it shall be competent for the Division of the Inner House or the Lord Ordinary before whom any cause in which interim interdict has been granted is pending to deal with any breach of the interim interdict without the presentation of a petition and complaint.

and other interim orders.

#### PART VI

c. 36

- (2) In any cause in dependence before the Court, the Court may, on the motion of any party to the cause, make such order regarding the interim possession of any property to which the cause relates, or regarding the subject matter of the cause, as the Court may think fit.
- (3) Every interim act, warrant and decree granted during the dependence of a cause in the Court shall, unless the Court otherwise directs, be extractible *ad interim*.

Limited right of audience of solicitor before the Court. **48.** Any solicitor entitled to practise before the Court shall have a right of audience before the vacation judge and in such other circumstances as may be prescribed.

Subscription of bill for letters of inhibition.

- **49.**—(1) Subject to subsection (2) below, the subscription by such of the clerks of session as may be prescribed of a bill craving warrant for the signeting of letters of inhibition shall be sufficient warrant for that purpose without the subscription of the bill by a Lord Ordinary.
- (2) Where in the case of any such bill a doubt or difficulty occurs to the clerk of session, he shall report the matter to a Lord Ordinary, and where a matter is so reported the subscription of the bill by the Lord Ordinary shall be necessary.

Copy of interlocutor granting commission and diligence to be equivalent to formal extract.

50. A copy of an interlocutor, pronounced by a Lord Ordinary or the Inner House granting commission and diligence, which is certified by a clerk of court shall have the same force and effect as a formal extract of the interlocutor.

# PART VII

#### SUPPLEMENTARY

#### Interpretation

- 51. In this Act unless the context otherwise requires—
  - "action" means a cause initiated by a summons;
  - "the Court" means the Court of Session and, in any provision conferring a power on the Court with regard to a cause before it, means, as the case may be, a Division of the Inner House, a Division sitting with an additional judge or judges or a Lord Ordinary;
  - "enactment" includes an act of sederunt;
  - "the Inner House" means, in any provision conferring power on it, a Division thereof:
  - "the Lord President" means the Lord President of the Court of Session;
  - "prescribed" means prescribed by act of sederunt;
  - "solicitor" has the same meaning as in section 65(1) of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980.

1980 c. 46.

Consequential amendments, repeals and savings.

**52.**—(1) The enactments specified in Schedule 1 to this Act shall have effect subject to the amendments specified in that Schedule, being amendments consequential upon the provisions of this Act.

15

(2) The enactments mentioned in Part I of Schedule 2 to this Act are hereby repealed to the extent specified in the third column of that Schedule; and Parts II and III of that Schedule respectively show the extent to which the aforesaid enactments are re-enacted (with or without amendment) in this Act or are repealed without re-enactment as being no longer of practical utility or being spent or unnecessary.

PART VII

c. 36

- (3) Notwithstanding section 24 of this Act, no appeal shall be allowed to the House of Lords against a decision of the Court on an appeal relating to estate duty except with the leave of the Court.
- (4) In so far as any appointment, act of sederunt or regulations made under any enactment repealed and re-enacted by this Act, or any other thing done under any such enactment, could have been made or done under a corresponding provision of this Act, it shall not be invalidated by the repeals effected by this section but shall have effect as if made or done under that corresponding provision.
- (5) Where any Act or any document refers, either expressly or by implication, to an enactment repealed and re-enacted by this Act, the reference shall, except where the context otherwise requires, be construed as a reference to the corresponding provision of this Act.
- (6) Nothing in this section shall be taken as prejudicing the operation of sections 16 and 17 of the Interpretation Act 1978 (general savings and 1978 c. 30. repeal and re-enactment).

53.—(1) This Act may be cited as the Court of Session Act 1988.

Short title, commencement

- (2) This Act shall come into force on the expiry of the period of 2 and extent. months beginning with the date on which it is passed.
  - (3) This Act extends to Scotland only.

### SCHEDULES

#### SCHEDULE 1

#### Section 52(1).

#### MINOR AMENDMENTS

The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1815 (c.42)

- 1. In section 20 (common jury summons)—
  - (a) for the words from the beginning to "sheriff principal" there shall be substituted the words "immediately upon receipt of the authority or precept issued under section 12 of the Court of Session Act 1988, the sheriff principal";
  - (b) for the words "to the clerk of the jury" there shall be substituted the words "to a clerk of";
  - (c) the words "by the clerk of the jury court" where they occur for the second time shall cease to have effect.

The Sheriff Courts (Scotland) Act 1907 (c.51)

2. After section 38A there shall be inserted the following—

#### "CONSISTORIAL CAUSES

Lord Advocate as party to action for divorce.

- 38B.—(1) The Lord Advocate may enter appearance as a party in any action for divorce, and he may lead such proof and maintain such pleas as he thinks fit, and the sheriff shall, whenever he considers it necessary for the proper disposal of any such action, direct that the action shall be brought to the notice of the Lord Advocate in order that he may determine whether he should enter appearance therein.
- (2) No expenses shall be claimable by or against the Lord Advocate in any action in which he has entered appearance under this section.

Orders with respect to children.

- 38C.—(1) In any action for divorce or separation, the sheriff may make, with respect to any child of the marriage to which the action relates, such order (including an interim order) as he thinks fit relating to parental rights, and may vary or recall such order.
  - (2) In this section—
    - (a) "child" and "parental rights" have the same meaning as in section 8 of the Law Reform (Parent and Child)(Scotland) Act 1986;
    - (b) "child of the marriage" includes any child who—
      - (i) is the child of both parties to the marriage, or
      - (ii) is the child of one party to the marriage and has been accepted as a child of the family by the other party.".

# SCHEDULE 2

# REPEALS

# Part I

Section 52(2).

	Enactments Repeali	ED
Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
1594 c.22.	The Declinature Act 1594.	The whole Act.
1672 c.6.	The Summons Execution Act 1672	The whole Act.
1681 c.79.	The Declinature Act 1681.	The whole Act so far as relating to the Court of Session.
48 Geo. 3. c.151.	The Court of Session Act 1808.	The whole Act.
50 Geo.3. c.112.	The Court of Session Act 1810.	The whole Act.
53 Geo. 3. c.64.	The Court of Session Act 1813.	The whole Act.
55 Geo. 3. c.42	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1815.	Sections 1 to 19. In section 20 the words "by the clerk of the jury court" where they occur for the second time. Sections 21 to 41.
59 Geo. 3. c.35.	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1819.	The whole Act.
59 Geo. 3. c.45.	The Court of Session Act 1819.	The whole Act.
1 & 2 Geo. 4. c.38.	The Court of Session Act 1821.	The whole Act except section 32.
6 Geo. 4. c.22.	The Jurors (Scotland) Act 1825.	Sections 17 and 19.
6 Geo. 4. c.120.	The Court of Session Act 1825.	Sections 1 to 52. In section 53 the words from the beginning to "sixty days; and" and the words "or sited". Section 54.
11 Geo. 4 & 1 Wm. 4 c.69.	The Court of Session Act 1830.	Sections 1 to 3. Section 9. Section 11. Sections 15 and 16. Section 19. Section 29, so far as relating to the Court of Session, and the proviso. Section 35. Section 37. Section 40.
2 & 3 Wm. 4. c.5.	The Court of Session Act 1832.	The whole Act.
7 Wm. 4 & 1 Vict. c.14.	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1837.	The whole Act.

Sch. 2	Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
	1 & 2 Vict. c.86.	The Court of Session (No. 1) Act 1838.	The whole Act.
	1 & 2 Vict. c.118.	The Court of Session (No. 2) Act 1838.	The whole Act except section 27.
	2 & 3 Vict. c.36.	The Court of Session Act 1839.	Section 1.
	13 & 14 Vict. c.36.	The Court of Session Act 1850.	The whole Act except section 16.
	19 & 20 Vict. c.56.	The Exchequer Court (Scotland) Act 1856.	Sections 2 to 4. Section 13. In section 14 the words from "and such application" to "proper". Sections 15 and 16. Sections 19 to 23. Sections 25 to 28. Section 44. Schedule G.
	20 & 21 Vict. c.18.	The Bill Chamber Procedure Act 1857.	The whole Act.
	20 & 21 Vict. c.56.	The Court of Session Act 1857.	The whole Act.
	24 & 25 Vict. c.86.	The Conjugal Rights (Scotland) Amendment Act 1861.	The whole Act except sections 6 and 20.
	29 & 30 Vict. c.112.	The Evidence (Scotland) Act 1866.	The whole Act.
	31 & 32 Vict. c.100.	The Court of Session Act 1868.	Section 10. Sections 12 and 13. Section 14 in so far as it relates to summonses and petitions. Sections 15 to 44. In section 45 the words from "or at" to "such trial"). Section 46. In section 47 the words from "where the trial" to "town".
	31 & 32 Vict.	The Parliamentary Elections	Sections 50 to 101. The whole Act.
	c.125.	Act 1868	The whole Act.
	40 & 41 Vict. c.11.	The Jurisdiction in Rating Act 1877.	In section 3, in the definition of "judge" the words "As to Scotland, any judge of the High Court of Session; and".
	42 & 43 Vict. c.75.	The Parliamentary Elections and Corrupt Practices Act 1879.	The whole Act.
	46 & 47 Vict. c.51.	The Corrupt and Illegal Practices Prevention Act 1883.	The whole Act.

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
52 & 53 Vict. c.54.	The Clerks of Session (Scotland) Regulation Act 1889.	Sections 6 and 7. Section 9. Section 12.
10 Edw. 7 & 1 Geo. 5. c.31.	The Jury Trials Amendment (Scotland) Act 1910.	The whole Act.
18 & 19 Geo. 5. c.34.	The Reorganisation of Offices (Scotland) Act 1928.	Sections 8 and 9.
23 & 24 Geo. 5. c.41.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1933.	Sections 2 to 6. Sections 9 to 11. Sections 13 to 18. In section 24, subsection (5). Section 30. In section 40, the definition of "consistorial cause".
12, 13 & 14 Geo. 6. c.10.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1948.	The whole Act.
12 & 13 Geo. 6. c.27.	The Juries Act 1949.	Schedule 1 so far as relating to the Court of Session Act 1868.
1968 c.5.	The Administration of Justice Act 1968.	The whole Act so far as relating to Scotland.
1972 c.59.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1972.	Section 2.
1977 c.38.	The Administration of Justice Act 1977.	Section 29(1).
1980 c.55.	The Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1980.	Section 1(6)(b).
1983 c.12.	The Divorce Jurisdiction, Court Fees and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1983.	In Schedule 1, paragraphs 5 and 8.
1985 c.6.	The Companies Act 1985.	In section 425(5) the words from "in pursuance" to "1933".
1985 c.73.	The Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1985.	In Schedule 2, paragraph 8.
1986 с.9.	The Law Reform (Parent and Child) (Scotland) Act 1986.	In Schedule 1, paragraph 2.
1986 c.45.	The Insolvency Act 1986.	In section 120(2) the words from "in pursuance" to the end. In section 162(2) the words from "in pursuance" to "1933".
1986 c.55.	The Family Law Act 1986	In Schedule 1, paragraph 1.

PART II
REPEALED ENACTMENTS WHICH ARE RE-ENACTED

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
48 Geo. 3 c.151.	The Court of Session Act 1808	Section 15 except the words "to which such Lords Ordinary belong". Section 17 except the words "or any four of the judges thereof". Sections 18 to 20.
50 Geo. 3 c.112.	The Court of Session Act 1810	In section 32 the words from "three judges" to "inner house".
53 Geo. 3 c.64.	The Court of Session Act 1813.	In section 17 the words from "the endorsation" to the end.
55 Geo. 3 c.42.	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1815.	Section 1. Section 5. In section 6, the proviso. In section 7 the words from "nothwithstanding" to "when necessary". Section 8 except the words "or judges" and "or by the judge admiral respectively". In section 21 the words from "in challenging" to the end. In section 29 the words from the beginning to "be allowed". Section 33 except the words from "to be afterwards" to the end.
59 Geo. 3 c.45.	The Court of Session Act 1819.	Section 1 in so far as it enables the senior Lord Ordinary to fill a vacancy arising in the Inner House.
1 & 2 Geo. 4. c.38.	The Court of Session Act 1821.	Section 1 except the words "advocation and" and "either for the lord ordinary on the bills or".
6 Geo. 4 c.120.	The Court of Session Act 1825.	Section 1. Section 5 so far as relating to appeal to the House of Lords. In section 17 the words from "every interlocutor" to the end. In section 21 the words from "the judgment" to the end. Section 23.

c. **36** 

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
		Section 28 except the words from "all actions on account of any injury to moveables" to "seduction", from "all actions on the responsibility" to "nuisance" and from "all actions on policies" to the end and except so far as relating to the jury court and Court of Admirality. In section 40 the words from the beginning to "in the interlocutor" and from "and further" to "of the case" but only in relation to proofs in sheriff courts. In section 46 the words from "and in the event" to the end.
1 & 2 Vict. c.86.	The Court of Session (No. 1) Act 1838.	In section 4 the words from "in all cases" to "interim possession".  In section 5 the words from the beginning to "Session".
13 & 14 Vict. c.36.	The Court of Session Act 1850.	Section 25. Section 28 except the words "without the necessity of such special allowance". Section 35. Section 42.
19 & 20 Vict. c.56.	The Exchequer Court (Scotland) Act 1856.	Sections 2 and 3. Section 20. Sections 22 and 23. Section 25.
20 & 21 Vict. c.56.	The Court of Session Act 1857.	Section 5 so far as relating to petitions. Section 6 so far as relating to petitions.
24 & 25 Vict. c.86.	The Conjugal Rights (Scotland) Amendment Act 1861.	Sections 8 and 9. In section 13, the proviso.
29 & 30 Vict. c.112.	The Evidence (Scotland) Act 1866.	Section 1 in so far as it authorises the taking of proof before the Lord Ordinary. Section 2. Section 3 except the words from "and where" to the end. Section 4. Section 6.
31 & 32 Vict. c.100.	The Court of Session Act 1868.	Section 6. Section 36. Section 44 except the words from "and if" to the end.

Sch. 2	Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
			Section 59. Section 60 except the words from "the printed" to "or to direct that".  In section 61 the words from the beginning to "verdict". Sections 62 and 63. Section 72 so far as relating to appeals from the sheriff, except the words "although such law is not pleaded on the record". Section 74 so far as relating to transmission of sheriff court causes. Section 89. In section 91 the words from the beginning to "seem proper". In section 92, the last sentence.
	31 & 32 Vict. c.125.	The Parliamentary Elections Act 1868	Section 100(2). Section 58.
	40 & 41 Vict. c.11.	The Jurisdiction in Rating Act 1877.	In section 3, in the definition of "judge" the words "As to Scotland, any judge of the High Court of Session, and".
	42 & 43 Vict. c.75.	The Parliamentary Elections and Corrupt Practices Act 1879.	Section 2.
	46 & 47 Vict. c.51.	The Corrupt and Illegal Practices Prevention Act 1883.	Section 42.
	10 Edw. 7 & 1 Geo. 5 c.31.	The Jury Trials Amendment (Scotland) Act 1910.	Section 2.
	23 & 24 Geo. 5 c.41.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1933.	Section 2(1). Section 3(2). Section 4 so far as it relates to the regulation of the powers of the vacation judge by act of sederunt. In section 6, subsections (4) and (7). In section 10, subsections (1) and (6) to (8). In section 11, subsections (1) and (2). Section 14 so far as providing competence for reclaiming. Section 15 so far as relating to power to prescribe form of extract of decree. Sections 16 and 17.

Corr	1
SCH.	Z

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
		Section 18 except proviso (i) to subsection (3). Section 24(5).
12, 13 and 14. Geo. 6. c.10.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1948.	Section 1 except the words from "when" to "thirteen". Sections 2 and 3.
12 & 13 Geo. 6 c.27.	The Juries Act 1949.	Schedule 1 so far as relating to the Court of Session Act 1868.
1968 c. 5.	The Administration of Justice Act 1968.	Section 1 so far as relating to Scotland.
1972 с. 59.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1972.	Section 2.
1977 c.38.	The Administration of Justice Act 1977.	Section 29(1).
1983 c.12.	The Divorce Jurisdiction, Court Fees and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1983.	In Schedule 1, paragraph 8.
1985 c.73.	The Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1985.	In Schedule 2, paragraph 8.
1986 c.9.	The Law Reform (Parent and Child)(Scotland) Act 1986.	In Schedule 1, paragraph 2.

 $\label{eq:Part III}$  Repealed Enactments which are not Re-enacted

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
1594 c.22.	The Declinature Act 1594.	The whole Act.
1672 c.6.	The Summons Execution Act 1672.	The whole Act.
1681 c.79.	The Declinature Act 1681.	The whole Act so far as relating to the Court of Session.
48 Geo. 3 c.151.	The Court of Session Act 1808.	Section 1. Section 4. Section 6. Section 10. Section 13. In section 15 the words "to which such Lords Ordinary belong". In section 17 the words "or any four of the judges thereof". Section 21.
50 Geo. 3 c.112.	The Court of Session Act 1810.	Section 11. Section 13. Sections 18 to 25. Sections 28 to 30. Section 32 except the words from "three judges" to "inner house". Sections 33 to 38. Section 48. Sections 51 and 52. The Schedules.
53 Geo. 3 c.64.	The Court of Session Act 1813.	Section 1. Section 7. Section 14. Section 17 except the words from "the endorsation" to the end.
55 Geo. 3 c.42.	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1815.	Section 6 except the proviso. Section 7 except the words from "notwithstanding" to "when necessary". In section 8 the words "or judges" and "or by the judge admiral respectively." Section 9. Section 12. Sections 15 to 17. Section 19. In section 20 the words "by the clerk of the jury court" where they occur for the second time.

Sch. 2

c. 36

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
		In section 21 the words from the beginning to "Provided always that". Section 22. Section 23. Section 28. In section 29 the words after "be allowed". In section 33 the words from "to be afterwards" to the end. Section 39. Section 41.
59 Geo. 3 c.35.	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1819.	Sections 7 to 9. Sections 13 and 14. Section 17. Section 19. Sections 26 and 27. Section 35.
59 Geo. 3 c.45.	The Court of Session Act 1819.	Section 1 except in so far as it enables the senior Lord Ordinary to fill a vacancy arising in the Inner House.  Section 3. Section 6.
1 & 2 Geo. 4 c.38.	The Court of Session Act 1821.	In section 1 the words "advocation and" and "either for the Lord Ordinary on the bills or". Section 3. Section 9. Sections 11 to 14. Section 18. Section 24. Sections 26 and 27. Sections 29 to 31.
6 Geo. 4 c.22.	The Jurors (Scotland) Act 1825.	Sections 17 and 19.
6 Geo. 4 c.120.	The Court of Session Act 1825.	Section 5 except so far as relating to appeal to the House of Lords. Sections 11 and 12. In section 17 the words from the beginning to "in part; and". Section 20. In section 21 the words from the beginning to "expenses; and". Section 22. Sections 24 to 26. In section 28 the words from "all actions on account of any injury to moveables" to "seduction", from "all actions on the responsibility" to

Sch. 2	Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
			"nuisance" and from "all actions on policies" to the end and that section so far as relating to the jury court and the Court of Admiralty.  Section 33.  Section 35.  Section 40 so far as relating to proofs in inferior courts other than sheriff courts and in that section the words from "Provided however" to "repealed" and from "but it is" to the end.  Section 44.  Section 45.  In section 46 the words from the beginning to "other division".  Sections 47 and 48.  Sections 51 and 52.  In section 53 the words from the beginning to "sixty days; and" and the words "or cited".
	11 Geo. 4 & 1 Will. 4 c.69.	The Court of Session Act 1830.	Section 54.  Sections 1 to 3.  Section 9.  Section 11.  Sections 15 and 16.  Section 19.  Section 29, so far as relating to the Court of Session, and the proviso.  Section 35.  Section 37.  Section 40.
	2 & 3 Will. 4 c.5.	The Court of Session Act 1832.	The whole Act.
	7 Will. 4 & 1 Vict. c.14.	The Jury Trials (Scotland) Act 1837.	The whole Act.
	1 & 2 Vict. c.86.	The Court of Session (No. 1) Act 1838.	Section 4 except the words from "in all cases" to "interim possession".  In section 5 the words from "by lodging" to the end.  Section 6.
	1 & 2 Vict. c.118.	The Court of Session (No. 2) Act 1838.	Section 1. Section 4. Section 14. Section 17. Section 21. Section 24. Section 26. Sections 28 and 29. The Schedule.

c. **36** 

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
2 & 3 Vict. c.36.	The Court of Session Act 1839.	Section 1.
13 & 14 Vict. c.36.	The Court of Session Act 1850.	Section 5. Sections 7 and 8. Sections 17 to 20. Sections 22 and 23. Sections 26 and 27. In section 28 the words "without the necessity of such special allowance". Section 29. Section 32. Section 36. Sections 39 to 41. Sections 44 to 53. Schedule (B).
19 & 20 Vict. c.56.	The Exchequer Court (Scotland) Act 1856.	Section 4. Section 13. In section 14 the words from "and such application" to "proper". Sections 15 and 16. Section 19. Sections 26 to 28. Section 44. Schedule G.
20 & 21 Vict. c.18.	The Bill Chamber Procedure Act 1857.	The whole Act.
20 & 21 Vict. c.56.	The Court of Session Act 1857.	Section 5 so far as relating to applications and reports. Section 6 so far as relating to applications and reports. Section 8.
24 & 25 Vict. c.86.	The Conjugal Rights (Scotland) Amendment Act 1861.	Section 10. Section 13 except the proviso. Section 19.
29 & 30 Vict. c.112.	The Evidence (Scotland) Act 1866.	Section 1 except in so far as it authorises the taking of proof before the Lord Ordinary.  In section 3 the words from "and where" to the end.
31 & 32 Vict. c.100.	The Court of Session Act 1868.	Section 10. Sections 12 and 13. Section 14 in so far as it relates to summonses and petitions. Sections 15 to 17. Sections 20 to 22. Sections 25 and 26. Sections 28 to 30. Section 32. Sections 34 and 35. Sections 37 and 38. Sections 40 and 41. Section 43.

Sou 2				
SCH. 2	Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal	
SCH. 2	Chapter  31 & 32 Vict. c.125.  42 & 43 Vict. c.75.	The Parliamentary Elections Act 1868.  The Parliamentary Elections and Corrupt Practices Act 1879.	Extent of repeal  In section 44 the words from "and if" to the end. In section 45 the words from "or at" to "such trial)". Section 46. In section 47 the words from "where the trial" to "town" Section 50. Sections 52 and 53. Sections 56 to 58. In section 60 the words from "the printed" to "or to direct that". In section 61 the words from "but this" to the end. Sections 65 to 71. In section 72 the words "although such law is not pleaded on the record" and that section except so far as relating to appeals from the sheriff. Section 73. Section 74 except so far as relating to transmission of sheriff court causes. Sections 76 to 88. Section 90. In section 91 the words from "and such petitions" to the end. Section 92 except the last sentence. Section 93. Sections 95 to 99. Section 100(1). Section 1.	
	46 & 47 Vict. c.51.	The Corrupt and Illegal Practices Prevention Act 1883.	Section 65.	
	52 & 53 Vict. c.54.	The Clerks of Session (Scotland) Regulation Act 1889.	Sections 6 and 7. Section 9. Section 12.	
	10 Edw. 7 & 1 Geo. 5 c.31.	The Jury Trials Amendment (Scotland) Act 1910.	Sections 3 and 4.	
	18 & 19 Geo. 5. c.34.	The Reorganisation of Offices (Scotland) Act 1928.	Sections 8 and 9.	

**Sch. 2** 

Chapter	Short title	Extent of repeal
23 & 24 Geo. 5. c.41.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1933.	Section 2(2). Section 3(1). Section 4 except so far as it relates to the regulation of the powers of the vacation judge by act of sederunt. Section 5. In section 6, subsections (1) to (3) and (5) and (6). Section 9. In section 10, subsections (2) to (5). Section 11(3). Section 13. Section 14 so far as relating to procedure. Section 15 except so far as relating to power to prescribe form of extract of decree. In section 18(3), proviso (i). Section 30. In section 40, the definition of "consistorial cause".
12, 13 & 14 Geo. 6. c.10.	The Administration of Justice (Scotland) Act 1948.	In section 1 the words from "when" to "thirteen" Section 5.
1968 c.5.	The Administration of Justice Act 1968.	Section 2.
1980 c.55.	The Law Reform (Miscellaneous Provisions) (Scotland) Act 1980.	Section 1(6)(b).
1983 c.12.	The Divorce Jurisdiction, Court Fees and Legal Aid (Scotland) Act 1983.	In Schedule 1, paragraph 5.
1985 c.6.	The Companies Act 1985.	In section 425(5) the words from "in pursuance" to "1933".
1986 c.45.	The Insolvency Act 1986.	In section 120(2) the words from "in pursuance" to the end. In section 162(2) the words from "in pursuance" to "1933".
1986 c.55.	The Family Law Act 1986.	In Schedule 1, paragraph 1.

PRINTED IN ENGLAND BY J. A. DOLE

Controller and Chief Executive of Her Majesty's Stationery Office and

Queen's Printer of Acts of Parliament.

.

# HMSO publications are available from:

#### **HMSO Publications Centre**

(Mail and telephone orders only) PO Box 276, London SW8 5DT Telephone orders (01) 622 3316 General enquiries (01) 211 5656

# **HMSO Bookshops**

49 High Holborn, London WC1V 6HB (01) 211 5656 (Counter service only)
258 Broad Street, Birmingham B1 2HE (021) 643 3740
Southey House, 33 Wine Street, Bristol BS1 2BQ (0272) 264306
9-21 Princess Street, Manchester M60 8AS (061) 834 7201
80 Chichester Street, Belfast BT1 4JY (0232) 238451
71 Lothian Road, Edinburgh EH3 9AZ (031) 228 4181

HMSO's Accredited Agents (see Yellow Pages)

And through good booksellers